## UNIVERSIDAD SAN FRANCISCO DE QUITO USFQ

**Colegio de Posgrados** 

Molecular detection of enteric viruses in black shellfish from Ecuador,

2021

Tesis en torno a una hipótesis o problema de investigación y su

contrastación

# Mery Patricia Ulloa González

# María Lorena Mejía Castañeda, Ph.D. Director de Trabajo de Titulación

Trabajo de titulación de posgrado presentado como requisito para la obtención del título de Magíster en Microbiología

Quito, junio 2023

## **UNIVERSIDAD SAN FRANCISCO DE QUITO USFQ**

## **COLEGIO DE POSGRADOS**

### HOJA DE APROBACIÓN DE TRABAJO DE TITULACIÓN

### Molecular detection of enteric viruses in black shellfish from Ecuador,

2021

## Mery Patricia Ulloa González

Nombre del Director del Programa:	Patricio Rojas			
Título académico:	M.D., Ph.D.			
Director del programa de:	Maestría en Microbiologí			
Nombre del Decano del Colegio Académico	Carlos Valle			
Título académico:	M.D., Ph.D.			
Decano del Colegio:	COCIBA			
Nombre del Decano del Colegio de Posgrados	Hugo Burgos			
Título académico:	Ph.D.			

### © DERECHOS DE AUTOR

Por medio del presente documento certifico que he leído todas las Políticas y Manuales de la Universidad San Francisco de Quito USFQ, incluyendo la Política de Propiedad Intelectual USFQ, y estoy de acuerdo con su contenido, por lo que los derechos de propiedad intelectual del presente trabajo quedan sujetos a lo dispuesto en esas Políticas.

Asimismo, autorizo a la USFQ para que realice la digitalización y publicación de este trabajo en el repositorio virtual, de conformidad a lo dispuesto en la Ley Orgánica de Educación Superior del Ecuador.

Nombre del estudiante:	Mery Patricia Ulloa González
Código de estudiante:	00216289
C.I.:	1400754063
Lugar y fecha:	Quito, 13 de junio de 2023

## ACLARACIÓN PARA PUBLICACIÓN

**Nota**: El presente trabajo, en su totalidad o cualquiera de sus partes, no debe ser considerado como una publicación, incluso a pesar de estar disponible sin restricciones a través de un repositorio institucional. Esta declaración se alinea con las prácticas y recomendaciones presentadas por el Committee on Publication Ethics COPE descritas por Barbour et al. (2017) Discussion document on best practice for issues around theses publishing, disponible en http://bit.ly/COPETheses.

### **UNPUBLISHED DOCUMENT**

**Note**: The following graduation project is available through Universidad San Francisco de Quito USFQ institutional repository. Nonetheless, this project – in whole or in part – should not be considered a publication. This statement follows the recommendations presented by the Committee on Publication Ethics COPE described by Barbour et al. (2017) Discussion document on best practice for issues around these publishing available on http://bit.ly/COPETheses.

### DEDICATORIA

A mi familia, pilar fundamental en mi vida

#### **AGRADECIMIENTOS**

A quienes forman parte del Instituto de Microbiología de la USFQ; de forma particular a mi tutora Lorena Mejía por la paciencia demostrada durante todo este proceso.

A Eloisa Hasing, Sonia Zapata y Pablo Endara, por su tiempo, orientación y consejos que hicieron posible el desarrollo de este trabajo.

A mis compañeros maestrantes de las cohortes 2019, 2020 y 2021, así como a los estudiantes de doctorado por su apoyo y predisposición para compartir sus conocimientos.

#### **RESUMEN**

Las enfermedades trasmitidas por alimentos son un grave problema de salud en el mundo, atribuyéndose más de la quinta parte a virus entéricos como agente etiológico. Al menos el 60% de los brotes asociados al consumo de alimentos reportados en Europa son causados por el consumo de alimentos provenientes del mar; con los virus como protagonistas en el mayor número de casos. Los moluscos bivalvos son reconocidos reservorios y vectores de patógenos humanos gracias a su capacidad de concentrar patógenos y toxinas presentes en el agua circundante del medio en que viven, misma que puede contaminarse como consecuencia del mal manejo de desechos humanos y aguas residuales. En Ecuador, la contaminación de alimentos con virus es un área poco explorada, por tanto, este estudio descriptivo tuvo como objetivo determinar la presencia de seis virus entéricos en conchas negras expendidas en varios mercados del país durante el segundo semestre del año 2021. Se analizó 101 muestras de conchas negras mediante qRT-PCR para detectar material genético de NoVGI, NoVGII, HAdV, RV, HAstV y SaV. El 69.3% de las muestras de concha negra analizadas presentaron al menos uno de los seis virus estudiados; 38.6% mostró contaminación con un solo virus siendo HAdV el más común (49.5%), seguido de NoVGI (20.8%). En 19.8% de las muestras se detectó dos virus, siendo RV+HAdV la combinación más frecuente. El 8.9% de las muestras fueron positivas para tres y 1.9% para cuatro virus de los seis analizados. Se observó estacionalidad en la detección de HAdV, reportándose asociación con época seca. En conclusión, este estudio demuestra presencia de virus patógenos humanos en conchas comercializadas en el país, sugiriendo el riesgo de consumir este alimento crudo.

#### **Palabras clave:**

Virus entéricos, Conchas negras, Moluscos bivalvos, Enfermedades transmitidas por alimentos, Norovirus, Astrovirus, Sapovirus, Adenovirus, Rotavirus

#### ABSTRACT

Foodborne diseases (FBD) are a serious health problem in the world, and more than a fifth of FBD are attributed to enteric viruses as the etiological agent. At least 60% of the FBD outbreaks reported in Europe are caused by the consumption of seafood; with viruses as protagonists in most of the cases. Bivalve mollusks are recognized reservoirs and vectors of human pathogens thanks to their ability to concentrate pathogens and toxins present in the surrounding water of the environment in which they live, which can be contaminated because of the mismanagement of wastewater. In Ecuador, food contamination with viruses is a little explored area, therefore, this descriptive study aimed to determine the presence of six enteric viruses in black shells sold in local markets during the second semester of 2021. We analyzed 101 samples of black shells using qRT-PCR to detect NoVGI, NoVGII, HAdV, RV, HAstV, and SaV. At least one virus was detected in 69.3% of the black shell samples analyzed, and 38.6% showed contamination with a single virus, HAdV was the most common (49.5%), followed by NoVGI (20.8%). Two viruses were detected in 19.8% of the samples, being RV + HAdV the most common combination. Three viruses were detected in 8.9% of the samples, and four viruses were detected in 1.9%. Seasonality was observed in the detection of HAdV, reporting an association with the dry season. In conclusion, this study demonstrates the presence of human pathogenic viruses in shells marketed in the country, suggesting the risk of consuming this raw food.

#### Keywords:

Enteric viruses, Black shellfish, Bivalve shellfish, Foodborne disease, Norovirus, Astrovirus, Sapovirus, Adenovirus, Rotavirus

## TABLA DE CONTENIDO

RESUMEN	7
ABSTRACT	8
BLACK SHELLFISH	10
ENTERIC PATHOGEN	10
Escherichia coli as fecal indicator	10
ENTERIC VIRUSES	11
NOROVIRUS	11
ROTAVIRUS	13
ASTROVIRUS	15
SAPOVIRUS	16
ADENOVIRUS	17
DIAGNOSIS OF ENTERIC VIRUS	18
PREVENTION OF ENTERIC VIRAL DISEASES	18
PART II: ORIGINAL ARTICLE	20
INTRODUCTION	20
MATERIALS AND METHODS	22
Sampling	22
Count of E. coli (Most Probable Number technique)	23
Viral Extraction	24
Reverse Transcription PCR	25
Statistical Analysis	26
RESULTS	26
DISCUSSION	27
TABLAS	34
Table 1. Frequency of detection of enteric viruses and <i>E. coli</i> in black shell by geographical origin	fish 34
Table 2. Multiplex qPCR primers and probes	35
Table 3. Co-detection of enteric viruses in black shellfish samples	37
Table 4. Association between seasonality and samples' origin with viral identification or E. coli count	38
Table 5. Association between <i>E. coli</i> count and detected viruses	39
REFERENCES	40

#### **BLACK SHELLFISH**

Black shellfish are bivalve mollusks belonging to the Mollusca phyla, the Bivalvia class, Arcidae family, and Anadara genus (Schoch CL, 2020) that inhabit mangrove ecosystems through Central and South America (Ramos, 2019). This genus includes several species, being *Anadara tuberculosa* and *Anadara similis* the most important species commercially (Prado et al., 2020) and gastronomically (Orden-Mejía et al., 2021) in Ecuador. Esmeraldas, El Oro, and Guayas provinces are the major producers of black shellfish, which are collected from San Lorenzo, Muisne, Jambelí, Puerto El Morro, Puerto Jeli, Puerto Hualtaco and Puerto Bolivar (Moreno, 2017).

#### **ENTERIC PATHOGEN**

Kolling defines "enteric pathogen" as any microbe able to cause enteric disease, and enteric disease is defined as  $\geq$ 3 unformed stools per day and any documented intestinal infection associated with disrupted intestinal absorptive and/or barrier function (Kolling et al., 2012). Enteric pathogens include viral, bacterial, or protozoan organisms (Kolling et al., 2012) which are responsible for more than 90% of foodborne illnesses worldwide with NoV being the leading agent causing more than 20% of foodborne cases reported in 2010 (Choi et al., 2016).

#### Escherichia coli as fecal indicator

*Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) is a gram-negative bacterium that belongs to the Enterobacterales order (Janda & Abbott, 2021). This bacterium is predominantly found in the gastrointestinal tract of humans and warm-blooded animals and has been widely used as an indicator organism in water and food to assess their food safety. According to Food and Drug Administration (FDA), high *E. coli* counts are associated with the presence of pathogens and it shows recent fecal contamination or unsanitary food processing (Peter Feng, Stephen D.

Weagant, Michael A. Grant, 2020). The Most probable Number technique (MPN) is the FDA-recommended method for *E. coli* enumeration in shellfish. This quantitative method estimates viable bacteria in food samples (Chandrapati & Williams, 2014). International (EU, 2004) and national criteria (NORMA PARA MOLUSCOS BIVALVOS VIVOS Y MOLUSCOS BIVALVOS CRUDOS, 2013) regarding *E. coli* counts for seafood describe <230MPN/100g as the cut-off value for bivalve shellfish commercialization.

Pathogenic strains of *E. coli* have been identified in bivalve shellfish (Ekici & Dümen, 2019; Miotto et al., 2019), but those strains cannot be detected by the conventional methods for *E. coli* count in food.

#### **ENTERIC VIRUSES**

Enteric viruses are pathogens found in the human gastrointestinal tract, excreted in human feces and transmitted by the fecal-oral route (Cook, 2016). These viruses transmitted by contaminated water and food, via person to person, via contact with contaminated surfaces and through aerosols (D'Souza & Joshi, 2015) cause gastroenteritis, hepatitis (enterically transmitted), and diseases that affect organs different to the digestive tract (eyes, respiratory system, central nervous system) (Cook, 2016). Caliciviruses, rotaviruses, adenoviruses, astroviruses, and coronaviruses are considered viral pathogens, and have been associated with foodborne disease outbreaks worldwide (Cook, 2016). WHO describes NoV as the major cause of foodborne diseases reported in 2010 (Choi et al., 2016).

#### NOROVIRUS

Norovirus (NoV), formerly known as the Norwalk-like virus, was first described in 1972 in stool samples from a school gastroenteritis outbreak in Ohio (Ludwig-Begall et al., 2021). NoV is a member of the *Caliciviridae* family. It is a small, non-enveloped, linear, positive-sense, single-stranded RNA virus with a length of 7.3-7.5 kb and a 27-30 nm diameter. The NoV genome contains 3 ORFs; except for Murine Norovirus (MNV). ORF1 encodes a polyprotein containing RdRp (RNA-dependent RNA polymerase). ORF2 and ORF3 encode capsid proteins VP1 and VP2, respectively. A virulence factor is encoded by the extra ORF4 of MNV (Ludwig-Begall et al., 2021).

This virus is genetically and antigenically diverse. It includes 10 genogroups (GI-GX) and 49 genotypes according to the current classification system (Chhabra et al., 2019). NoV GI, GII, GIV, GVIII, and GIX have been described as human pathogens (Ludwig-Begall et al., 2021).

Currently, this virus is recognized worldwide as the leading cause of gastroenteritis (both, sporadic and epidemic) and is responsible for a significant economic (\$4.2 billion annually) and health burden (219 000 deaths annually) (Ludwig-Begall et al., 2021). The global prevalence of NoV as the etiologic agent of acute gastroenteritis (AGE) is reported as 16% in the world, with a higher prevalence of 22% in South America (Liao et al., 2021). In Ecuador, NoV was described in 18% of children with and without diarrhea, and 30% of children were infected by this agent before the age of 3 years (Gastañaduy et al., 2015). Globally, NoV GII.4 is the predominant genotype associated with 55-85% of outbreaks in recent years (Ludwig-Begall et al., 2021).

Human NoV attaches to the host cell using ABH and Lewis histo-blood group antigens as ligands (A. Ford-Siltz et al., 2021). Likewise, human secretor status plays an important role in the susceptibility to NoV infection, being NoV GII.4 disease more prevalent in secretors who have a FUT2 active allele (Currier et al., 2015; Frenck et al., 2012), and infection with NoV non-GII.4 associated with no secretors (B. A. Lopman et al., 2015)

Human NoV is transmitted through the consumption of contaminated food and water, or person-to-person contact (Ludwig-Begall et al., 2021). The infectious dose is <18 viral particles (Pringle et al., 2015; A. N. Williams et al., 2021). Although the disease is mostly self-limiting, it can be severe and persistent in elderly, malnourished, and immunocompromised patients (Cook, 2016; Ludwig-Begall et al., 2021). The incubation period is short: 24-48h, and the clinical symptoms (abdominal cramps, nausea, chills, mild fever, bloating, myalgia) last for 2-3 days with a high number of viral particles being shed in feces and vomit. Dehydration is the most common complication and may require rehydration therapy (Ludwig-Begall et al., 2021).

Shellfish have been identified as a vehicle for human NoV transmission in 61% of global outbreaks; with oysters as the most commonly implicated shellfish (89%) (Hardstaff et al., 2018). According to a systematic review, the prevalence of human NoV in shellfish worldwide was 29% during the last 20 years, with GII.4 identified as the most common genotype (Li et al., 2023).

#### ROTAVIRUS

Rotavirus (RV) was first described in 1973 from stool samples from children (Olaniran & Discipline, 2022). This virus belongs to the Reoviridae family and contains a non-enveloped, double-stranded RNA consisting of 3 concentric capsids surrounding a genome of 11 segments. The RV genome is 16-27 kb and its particle measures 60-80 nm in diameter. Six structural viral proteins (VP1, VP2, VP3, VP4, VP6 and VP7) and six non-structural viral proteins (NSP1, NS2, NSP3, NSP4, NSP5 and NSP6) are encoded by the RV

genome (Olaniran & Discipline, 2022). Ten species of RV (A-J) have been described according to sequence and antigenic differences of VP6, with RVA being the most common cause of AGE in children. 32 G genotypes and 47 P genotypes have been assigned based on the sequence of segments VP7 and VP4 (Crawford et al., 2017).

Before the introduction of vaccination against RV, this virus was described as the most common cause of non-bacterial AGE and was responsible for more than 500 000 deaths in 2013, with 45% occurring in children <5 years (Clark et al., 2017). The global prevalence of RV in feces from people with diarrhea is 7.6% in people older than 5 years (Arakaki et al., 2021; Purpari et al., 2019). In Ecuador, the prevalence of RV in children's stool (determined by immunochromatographic technique) was described as around 16-19% (B. Lopman et al., 2013; Simaluiza-Masabanda et al., 2016).

RV is transmitted through the fecal-oral route, person-to-person contact, and through contaminated fomites (Crawford et al., 2017) with 10 viral particles being sufficient to cause human disease (Cook, 2016).

The virus requires HBGAs and sialic acids to attach to human enterocytes (Amimo et al., 2021) and the disease is characterized by diarrhea, vomiting, malaise, and fever that persists for 3-8 days with dehydration as the most important complication (Crawford et al., 2017). A high number of viral particles are shed on human feces (10<sup>12</sup> per g) (Cook, 2016).

Shellfish has been analyzed worldwide to determine RV RNA, showing a 9% prevalence in bivalves in Italy (Fusco et al., 2019) and 25-60% in Brazil (Keller et al., 2019).

#### ASTROVIRUS

Human Astrovirus (HAstV) was first isolated in 1975 from stool samples from children. HAstV is a small, non-enveloped, positive-sense, single-stranded RNA virus. Viral particles are 28-30 nm in diameter, and the genome is 6.8-7.8 kb in length (Bosch et al., 2014). HAstV belongs to the family *Astroviridae* which includes two genera, Avastrovirus (avian virus with 3 genotypes) and Mamastrovirus (mammalian virus with 19 genotypes) (Cortez et al., 2017). AstV contains 3 ORFs; ORF1a encodes a serine protease and VPg; ORF1b encodes RdRp, and ORF2 encodes the capsid protein (Cortez et al., 2017). AstV is categorized into 8 classic types (HAstV1-8) and novel genotypes including MLB, VA, and HMO (Cortez et al., 2017).

HAstV is an emerging cause of sporadic and epidemic AGE showing a global prevalence of 4.2% in children with AGE; with HAstV1 being the most prevalent genotype (Razizadeh, Pourrostami, et al., 2022). This virus is described as the third most common agent associated with viral AGE after NoV and RV, causing 15-20% of non-bacterial gastroenteritis in humans (Cook, 2016).

The cellular receptors that promote HAstV infection in human cells are currently unknown (Bosch et al., 2014; Cortez et al., 2017) as the infectious dose, however, it is supposed to be very low (Pexara & Govaris, 2020). The incubation period appears to be 24-36 hours (Fu et al., 2023).

Viral transmission takes place through the fecal-oral route with food and water acting as vehicles (Bosch et al., 2014). In the last 20 years, 32 outbreaks associated with HAstV have been documented around the world, the largest one (4 700 people affected) occurred in Japan in 1991 and was associated with contaminated food (Fu et al., 2023). The disease is characterized by self-limiting diarrhea (lasting 1-4 days), vomiting, fever, and abdominal pain (Cook, 2016; Cortez et al., 2017). In immunocompromised patients, the infection can become systemic (Bosch et al., 2014). A high number of viral particles are shed on stool ( $10^{10}$ - $10^{11}$  per g) (Bosch et al., 2014).

#### SAPOVIRUS

Sapovirus (SaV), formerly called the Sapporo-like virus, was first described in 1976 from stool samples of children in Sapporo, Japan (Razizadeh, Khatami, et al., 2022). SaV are non-enveloped viruses of 7.1-7.7 kb and 41-46 nm in diameter belonging to the family *Caliciviridae* (Diez Valcarce et al., 2021). Its positive-sense, single-stranded RNA genome contains 3 ORFs; the RdRp and the major capsid protein (VP1) are encoded by ORF1, a small protein is encoded by ORF2, and ORF3 encodes for a protein whose function is unknown (D'Souza & Joshi, 2015; Razizadeh, Khatami, et al., 2022). This virus is classified into 5 genogroups (GI-GV) and 19 genotypes; SaV GI, GII, GIV, and GV are responsible for human infections (Razizadeh, Khatami, et al., 2022).

SaV has been described as the etiologic agent of 3.4% of AGE according to a systematic review conducted by Diez in 2021, with children less than 5 years of age being the most affected (4.4%), and genogroup GI as the most commonly detected among AGE cases (Diez Valcarce et al., 2021). However, Rohuani found higher frequency considering only 8 countries; showing a prevalence of 24.7% in diarrheal stool samples with 60% of children infected during the first 2 years of life (Rouhani et al., 2022). Viral transmission is associated with the fecal-oral route, person-to-person contact, and contaminated water or food (Xuefeng Chen, et al et al., 2011). Shellfish are recognized as an important source of SaV infection

(Xuefeng Chen, et al et al., 2011), Spain has reported a prevalence of 21,8% of SaV in mollusks over 20 years (Romalde et al., 2018).

Symptoms include fever, diarrhea, and vomiting. The infectious dose is not well established but high levels of the virus can be excreted in the stool ( $10^{6}$ - $10^{11}$  per g) (Cook, 2016; Oka et al., 2015). SaV immunology has not been clearly described, however, bile acids seem to have a play role in porcine SaV entry and replication (Oka et al., 2015).

#### ADENOVIRUS

HAdV was first isolated in 1953 (Shieh, 2022) from human adenoids. They belong to the *Adenoviridae* family and the Mastadenovirus genus. HAdV is classified into seven species (A-G) and organized into more than 100 types (do Nascimento, Fialho, et al., 2022). This virus has a double-stranded linear DNA genome that is 70-100 nm in diameter and 26-45 kb in size (do Nascimento, Fialho, et al., 2022; Greber & Flatt, 2019). A wide variety of diseases can be caused by HAdV according to its tissue tropism: respiratory, gastrointestinal, or ocular (Shieh, 2022). HAdV type F40 and F41 are recognized worldwide as agents of acute gastroenteritis in children (do Nascimento, Fialho, et al., 2022; Shieh, 2022) reaching a 15-25% prevalence in AGE cases (do Nascimento, Fialho, et al., 2022; Shieh, 2022). Symptoms of the HAdV AGE include acute abdominal pain, diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, and fever. The disease is often self-limited lasting 2-3 days (Shieh, 2022) with a high number of viral particles shed on feces (10<sup>11</sup> per g) (do Nascimento, Fialho, et al., 2022). This virus is transmitted by direct contact, fecal-oral route, or, even respiratory and environmental route (Cook, 2016; Shieh, 2022).

Using a mathematical model, the mortality due to HAdV was estimated and HAdV40/41 were described as responsible for 53 613 deaths in children under 5 years of age

with AGE during the year 2016 (Troeger et al., 2018). A wide range of receptors has been described for HAdV infection regardless of its cellular tropism. Enteric HAdV seems to use CAR (Coxsackievirus AdV receptor) as an important human receptor (Greber & Flatt, 2019). The presence of HAdV in water and shellfish is considered a potential indicator of viral contamination and/or fecal pollution (Nagarajan et al., 2022; Rodriguez-Manzano et al., 2014).

#### **DIAGNOSIS OF ENTERIC VIRUS**

For clinical diagnosis, several methods have been used including electron microscopy, serological or molecular assays, and cell culture techniques. Cell culture is the gold standard, however it is laborious and time-consuming. Electron microscopy has low sensitivity and requires expensive equipment and trained personnel. Serological assays include ELISA and immunochromatography while RT-PCR is the most widely used molecular assay (Malik et al., 2019).

When food matrices are analyzed, viral detection becomes more difficult due to the low viral load and the complexity of the matrix, which can have an inhibitory effect. Molecular methods are commonly used for the detection of viruses from food, mainly PCRbased methods which are sensitive and quick (Malik et al., 2019). This technique requires a virus process control to determine the efficiency of the virus extraction, and an RNA control to evaluate the inhibition or the amplification as described in the ISO 15216-2017 (International Organization for Standardization, 2017).

#### PREVENTION OF ENTERIC VIRAL DISEASES

Regarding preventive measures to reduce enteric viral diseases in humans, a wide range of actions have been described. To prevent contamination of food and water, reinforcing the use of clean water during the growth, washing, and preparation of produce is recommended (Ezzatpanah et al., 2022). Likewise, the improvement in hygiene and sanitation is an effective measure for reducing the risk of viral FBD (Crawford et al., 2017).

Timely detection of viral contamination in water and food (D'Souza & Joshi, 2015) and the use of physical (heat), chemical, and purification processes to reduce the viral load on food (D'Souza & Joshi, 2015) contribute to prevention. Consumers are encouraged to avoid the consumption of raw or undercooked bivalves (Guix et al., 2019).

RV vaccines are available worldwide; however, vaccines against NoV, HAstV, and SaV are not currently available. Some promising candidates for NoV vaccination are in the clinical phases (Santos-Ferreira et al., 2021).

#### PART II: ORIGINAL ARTICLE

## MOLECULAR DETECTION OF ENTERIC VIRUSES IN BLACK SHELLFISH FROM ECUADOR, 2021

#### **INTRODUCTION**

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), "Foodborne illnesses are usually infectious or toxic in nature and caused by bacteria, viruses, parasites or chemical substances entering the body through contaminated food" (World Health Organization, 2022). Foodborne diseases (FBD) resulted in 600 million cases and 420 000 deaths in 2010, with NoV being the leading cause of gastroenteritis (120 million cases) and accounting for a high mortality burden globally (35 000 deaths) (Choi et al., 2016). Children aged <5 years old account for 40% of the disease burden (Choi et al., 2016), and diarrheal disease is one of the leading causes of death in this age range (Abbafati et al., 2020; World Health Organization, 2017).

In addition to NoV, HAdV, HAstV, SaV, and RV have also been described as agents of food and waterborne diseases (Cook, 2016). Except for HAdV, the other four enteric viruses are included in the list of 31 major foodborne pathogens identified by the CDC (Scallan et al., 2011). Contamination of water and food, which contributes to the fecal-oral transmission of enteric viruses, is facilitated by the low number of viral particles capable of causing human infection (18 for NoV), the high number of viruses shed in feces (up to 10<sup>10</sup> per gram), and the viral stability in the environment (Bosch et al., 2018). Viral contamination of food can occur at two different stages of production: preharvest or postharvest. Preharvest contamination results from environmental contamination associated with wastewater and is

common for seafood and vegetables. Postharvest contamination is common for ready-to-eat foods and is associated with bad hygiene practices (Bosch et al., 2018).

Bivalve shellfish have been widely described as reservoirs and vectors of human pathogens and are responsible for more than 60% of foodborne outbreaks worldwide (EFSA, 2015; Hardstaff et al., 2018). This fact can be attributed to their feeding mechanism through filtration which allows them to concentrate pathogens from the surrounding water (Yang et al., 2021). A long list of microorganisms such as viruses (including human calicivirus NoV and HAstV, HAV, HEV, RV, HAdV, EV (Lees, 2000); bacteria (*Vibrio* spp., *Salmonella* spp., *E. coli* Shigellae, *Aeromonas* spp. *Plesiomonas* spp.) (Adeel A Butt, Kenneth E Aldridge, 2004) and parasites (both protozoa and helminths) (Butt et al., 2004), are transmitted to humans by ingesting contaminated raw shellfish; which can be an important issue in Ecuador because raw or undercooked shellfish are consumed frequently (Orden-Mejía et al., 2021).

*E coli* count has been widely used as a marker for food safety, however, viruses have been shown to be cleared from shellfish tissue less efficiently than bacteria. Therefore, bacteria counts could not always reflect the viral risk of shellfish for human consumption (Sharp et al., 2021).

Viral FBDs are at the top of the food safety priorities established in the EU (Rowe & Bolger, 2017). In addition, the development of policies and programs to strengthen food safety is encouraged by the WHO (Choi et al., 2016), and assessment and control of foodborne pathogens is one of the key issues (Bosch et al., 2018). In Ecuador, SIVE-Alerta regularly reports the agents associated with FBDs but focuses on limited pathogens considering only *Salmonella* spp., *E. coli* Shigellae, and Hepatitis A virus (HAV) for

mandatory reporting, even though these agents represent only a quarter of the FBD cases identified (Subsistema de Vigilancia SIVE-ALERTA MSP, 2023). In the first two months of 2023, 1 868 cases of FBD were documented; and 1 377 were categorized as "other food poisoning" without specifying the etiological agent (Subsistema de Vigilancia SIVE-ALERTA MSP, 2023). This illustrates the limited characterizing of FBD agents in Ecuador, where only a few studies have described viruses in food, including the detection of noroviruses and HAV in strawberries and spinach (Salazar et al., 2023). This highlights the need to strengthen surveillance and tools to identify the specific pathogens circulating in our country responsible for this important burden, allowing us to better characterize the local epidemiology.

Our study aimed to describe fecal contamination and estimate the detection rate of enteric viruses in black shellfish commercialized in local Ecuadorian markets using molecular methods (qRT-PCR).

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### Sampling

A total of 101 bivalve shellfish samples were collected from markets in different Ecuadorian cities (Quito, Cuenca, Esmeraldas, Huaquillas, Guayaquil, Machala, San Cristobal Island, and Santa Cruz Island) during the year 2021 (from July to December) as shown in table 1. Convenience sampling was performed during the rainy and dry seasons, and collection time points occurred weekly or between two weeks. Each sample consisted of ten raw black shellfish comprising two species, *Anadara tuberculosa* and *Anadara similis* (except for Galapagos islands, where oysters were collected). Bivalve samples were collected directly from market stalls using sterile bags, kept at 4°C, and transported immediately to the Food Microbiology Laboratory at Universidad San Francisco de Quito (USFQ) for microbiological and molecular analysis.

#### Count of E. coli (Most Probable Number technique)

Only live, not frozen shellfish were analyzed (19 samples out of 101 were excluded). The Most Probable Number technique (MPN) was used to determine fecal contamination of 82 samples according to the five tubes-three dilution method described by The Centre for Environment, Fisheries, and Aquaculture Science-CEFAS (Stockley, 2019). The method for *E. coli* count was based on  $\beta$ -glucuronidase production as established by ISO 16649-3.

Briefly, 10 live black shellfish were washed and scrubbed under tap water to remove soil, mud, or sand. Shells were opened using sterile instruments (globes, knives, clamps, and scalpels). The shellfish meat and intervalvular liquid were kept in a sterile container, and 2 g  $\pm$  0.2 of digestive tissue were aseptically removed and used for further viral extraction.

Twenty-five g of the remaining flesh was used for *E. coli* enumeration. The meat was placed into a sterile stomacher bag and 100 mL of 0.1% peptone solution (P) were added. The bag was homogenized for 3 minutes at medium speed, then 125 mL of P were added and mixed thoroughly to get a master 10<sup>-1</sup> dilution.

A further 10-fold dilution (10<sup>-2</sup>) was made by adding 1 mL of the master dilution to 9 mL of P. Five tubes containing 10 mL of double strength fluorocult medium were each inoculated with 10 mL of master dilution (equivalent to 1 g of molluscan shellfish tissue per tube). Five tubes containing 10 mL of single strength fluorocult (MERCK) medium were each inoculated with 1 mL of master dilution (equivalent to 0.1 g of molluscan shellfish tissue per tube). An additional set of five tubes of single strength fluorocult medium was inoculated with 1 mL of the 10<sup>-2</sup> dilution (equivalent to 0.01 g of molluscan shellfish tissue

per tube). Positive control tubes inoculated with *E. coli* strain ATCC 25922 and negative control (uninoculated tubes) were also included in the analysis. Tubes were incubated at 37 °C for 24  $\pm$ 2 hours. After incubation, each tube was examined to detect a color change from yellow to blue or green, indicating coliform presence. Tubes showing color change were analyzed under UV light and fluorescence detection at 366 nm was considered suggestive of *E. coli*. A positive indole test was used to confirm the presence of *E. coli*.

Additionally, subcultures onto Chromocult coliform agar (MERCK) plates were performed to confirm positivity from each tube. Dark blue to violet colonies were identified as *E. coli*, and pink to red colonies as other coliform bacteria. The number of positive tubes for each dilution was registered and results were interpreted according to tables given by CEFAS (Stockley, 2019).

#### Viral Extraction

Based on ISO 15216-1 (International Organization for Standardization, 2017), 2 g  $\pm$  0.2 of digestive tissue (DT) were used for viral extraction. DT was finely chopped using sterile scalpels to get a paste. The homogenized sample was placed into falcon tubes and 2 mL of proteinase K solution (Invitrogen, 100µg/mL) was added to the tube. Samples were vortexed (30 seconds) and placed in a shaking incubator at 37 °C for 60 min and 300 rpm. A second incubation step was performed at 60°C for 15 min. Samples were then centrifuged at 3 000 g for 5 min and the supernatant was collected and used for RNA extraction. Extraction of viral RNA (on 250 µL aliquot of the supernatant) was performed using ReliaPrep RNA Cell Miniprep System according to the manufacturer's instructions with modifications (we omitted the DNase treatment step to allow posterior detection of HAdV). Extracted

DNA/RNA was eluted on 50  $\mu$ L of free nuclease water and kept at -80°C immediately after extraction for further analysis.

#### **Reverse Transcription PCR**

Aliquots of 5 µl of RNA from each sample were subjected to reverse transcription (RT). Extracted RNA was pipetted into a PCR tube and placed in a Bio-Rad thermocycler at 97°C for 5 min. The PCR tube was placed in an ice bath for 5 minutes, spun for 10 seconds, and returned to the ice bath. A 15 µL mix containing 1X first strand buffer, 5 mM of DTT, 0.375 mM of dNTPs, 30 ng of random primers, 1 U of RNase out, and 5 U of Super Script II was used for the RT reaction. Cycling conditions included 60 min at 42°C, 70 °C for 15 min, and hold at 4 °C. cDNA was used immediately for qPCR, otherwise, it was kept at -20°C until testing.

The multiplex qPCR method EVPrtPCR described elsewhere (Pang, Xiaoli. Preiksaitis, Jutta. Lee, 2014), was used to assess the presence or absence of any of six enteric viruses: Norovirus GI (NoVGI), Norovirus GII (NoVGII), Astrovirus (HAstV), Sapovirus (SaV), Adenovirus (HAdV) and/or Rotavirus (RV). Primers and probes used for TaqMan Real-Time PCR are described in Table 2.

The qPCR amplification was performed in a 10  $\mu$ L volume reaction containing 5  $\mu$ L of FUMM (TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> Fast Universal PCR Master Mix -Applied biosystems by Thermo Fisher Scientific) and 3  $\mu$ l of cDNA. For NoVGI, NoVGII, RV, and HAdV primers and probes, the final concentration was 4.5  $\mu$ M, and 1.25  $\mu$ M, respectively. For SaV and HAstV primers and probes, the concentration was 2.25  $\mu$ M and 0.625  $\mu$ M, respectively.

Cycling conditions included initial denaturation for 20 sec at 95 °C, followed by 45 cycles of 3 sec at 95 °C and 3 sec at 60 °C. The reaction was performed using a Bio-Rad CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR Detection System. Synthetic positive controls (gBlocks gene fragment-Integrated DNA Technologies) and PCR water were used as positive and negative controls, respectively. Samples showing a Cq  $\leq$ 38 were considered positive.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The association between each virus identification and dichotomous variables was evaluated using Fisher's exact test because of the lack of assumptions for the Chi-square test. Those associations showing statistical association in the descriptive analysis were later explored for association measure (odds ratio) to estimate the effect of seasonality (dry or rain), and geographical origin source (San Lorenzo, Puerto El Morrro, Galapagos, Jambelí, Muisne, Puerto Bolivar, Puerto Jeli and Puerto Hualtaco) on viral identification. To analyzing geographical origin and because most of the samples were from San Lorenzo whereas the rest of the locations each had a small number of samples, we categorized samples as from "San Lorenzo" or as "regions other than San Lorenzo". Odds ratios were calculated to estimate the effect of seasonality and geographical origin on viral positivity using a logistic regression model. An association was considered statistically significant if the p-value was equal to or lower than 0.05. Statistical analyses were performed using the software SPSS 28.0.1 (IBM), and Excel.

#### RESULTS

Seventy samples of black shellfish (85.4 %) showed *E. coli* counts above the permissible limit (≤ 230 MPN) established by the Ecuadorian regulation INEN 2729 (NORMA PARA MOLUSCOS BIVALVOS VIVOS Y MOLUSCOS BIVALVOS

CRUDOS, 2013), and Codex Alimentarius 315-2014 (Norma Para Los Moluscos Bivalvos Vivos y Moluscos Bivalvos Crudos, 2015) as shown in table 1.

We detected one, two, three, and four viruses in 39 (38.6%), 20 (19.8%), 9 (8.9%), and 2 (2%) samples, respectively (Table 3). HAdV + RV was the most common combination detected (7 samples, 6.9%).

When we evaluated the effect of seasonality on viral detection, we observed an association between the dry season and HAdV molecular detection, (p=0.001, Fisher Exact Test) (Table 4). Samples collected during the rainy season showed a 75% lower probability to be positive for HAdV than those samples collected during the dry season (OR:0.25, CI 95% 0.11-0.58).

When we analyzed the *E. coli* counts and detected viruses by sample origin, we found that samples collected from regions other than San Lorenzo had a 4.7 higher probability of showing positivity for NoVGI than samples collected from San Lorenzo (CI 95%= 1.34-16.7). Conversely, samples collected from regions other than San Lorenzo showed a 90% lower probability to get impermissible *E. coli* counts than samples collected from San Lorenzo from San Lorenzo (OR:0.1, 95% CI= 0.02-0.38).

No significant association was identified between fecal contamination (*E. coli* counts) and molecular detection of each enteric virus (p >0.05, Fisher Exact Test) (Table 5).

#### DISCUSSION

In this study, we assessed the presence of six viral human pathogens and one fecal indicator bacteria in black shellfish collected in Ecuador. Black shellfish constitutes an important food resource in Ecuadorian gastronomy and is frequently consumed raw (Orden-Mejía et al., 2021); therefore, there is a strong need to assess and implement pathogen surveillance in commercialized bivalve mollusks to determine their quality and safety for human consumption.

We detected at least one of six viruses (NoVGI, NoVGII, HAdV, RV, SaV, and HAstV) in 69.3% of 101 samples collected in the second semester of the year 2021. Importantly, most of the shellfish samples analyzed in this study had high *E. coli* counts (85,4%) and did not meet the national and international microbiological criteria set, respectively, by INEN 2729 (NORMA PARA MOLUSCOS BIVALVOS VIVOS Y MOLUSCOS BIVALVOS CRUDOS, 2013) and CODEX STAN 292-2008 (Norma Para Los Moluscos Bivalvos Vivos y Moluscos Bivalvos Crudos, 2015). High *E. coli* counts (4x10<sup>3</sup> to 2x10<sup>7</sup> CFU/g) in black shellfish have been previously described in Puerto El Morro, and the implementation of purification treatment before commercialization of this bivalve shellfish suggested (Delgado Madeleyne, 2017).

Fecal contamination of oysters, mussels, clams, and other bivalves has been documented at varying frequencies around the world. In India, *E. coli* has been reported in 100% of samples tested (Das et al., 2020). In South America, this indicator of fecal contamination has been described in 51% of shellfish samples analyzed in Brazil (Miotto et al., 2019); these data are consistent with our findings; but contrast with the 11.1% found in Argentina (Cammarata et al., 2021).

*E. coli* as an indicator of fecal contamination allows the prediction of the presence of other enteric pathogens such as viruses or parasites in food (Ekici & Dümen, 2019) and determines its safety for human consumption. Despite the high levels of fecal contamination

found, we did not observe a correlation between the presence of *E. coli* and the presence of any of the viruses analyzed. This is consistent with the study by Sharp and colleagues who found that *E. coli* is not a good indicator of viral contamination of shellfish or water since viruses persist in shellfish tissue longer than bacteria, even when purification measures are applied (Sharp et al., 2021). This different clearence rate between bacteria and viruses may explain the association found between non-impermissible *E. coli* counts in samples collected from San Lorenzo, despite their lower NoVGI positive rate. Typical *E. coli* assessment does not include pathogenic strains, therefore we cannot exclude the presence of *E. coli* pathotypes in black shellfish, as described in Brazil (Miotto et al., 2019).

When we analyzed the *E. coli* counts and detected viruses by sample origin, we found that samples collected from regions other than San Lorenzo had a 4.7 higher probability of showing positivity for NoVGI than samples collected from San Lorenzo (CI 95%= 1.34-16.7). Conversely, samples collected from regions other than San Lorenzo showed a 90% lower probability to get impermissible *E. coli* counts than samples collected from San Lorenzo (OR:0.1, 95% CI= 0.02-0.38).

Among the viruses analyzed, HAdV was more frequently detected (49.5% of the samples). Detection of this virus has been reported in different classes of shellfish: 6.3%-11.7% in Taiwan (Nagarajan et al., 2022); 21.27% in India (Ghosh et al., 2019); 43.3% in Spain (Rodriguez-Manzano et al., 2014), and 24.7%-75% in Brazil (do Nascimento, Sarmento, et al., 2022; Keller et al., 2019). Not many studies have been conducted on food in Latin America. However, Brazil (Keller et al., 2019) reported a high frequency of detection of HAdV in mollusks from mangroves (75%), with higher frequencies in mussels. Both Ghosh (Ghosh et al., 2019)and Keller (Keller et al., 2019) reported a species-dependent frequency; a higher positivity was attributed to clams or mussels compared to oysters or

shrimps. This suggests that shellfish may concentrate or retain viruses differently depending on the species, as proposed for NoV (Franoise S. Le Guyader et al., 2012). This would explain the high HAdV recovery from black shellfish in our study.

The most common non-bacterial agents described in gastroenteritis globally are NoVGI and NoVGII (WHO, 2015). They were detected in 20.8% and 6.9% of the analyzed samples, respectively. NoVGII (GII.4) leads the worldwide list of noroviruses responsible for human gastroenteritis outbreaks (S. . Williams & O'Brien, 2019). In Ecuador, NoVGII was described in 2015 as the most frequent genogroup found in stool samples from children (Gastañaduy et al., 2015; B. A. Lopman et al., 2015). Globally this genogroup was found as the most prevalent in shellfish (Li et al., 2023). Interestingly, we found a higher prevalence of NoVGI in black shellfish. Some studies have demonstrated the in vitro ability of mollusks to concentrate NoVGI over NoVGII due to specific carbohydrates (including blood group antigens) in shellfish tissue acting as ligands, promoting viral strain-specific accumulation (Françoise S. Le Guyader et al., 2008; Franoise S. Le Guyader et al., 2012; Maalouf et al., 2011). Furthermore, NoVGI has been widely associated with outbreaks caused by shellfish (Keller et al., 2019; Kittigul, L., Thamjaroen, A., Chiawchan, S., Chavalitshewinkoon-Petmitr, P., Pombubpa, K., & Diraphat, 2016; Moon et al., 2011), due to its ability to bioaccumulate NoVGI even in the presence of low levels of the virus in the surrounding environment (Yang et al., 2021).

Most viral testing in shellfish focuses on detecting NoV or HAV, but other viruses including RV are also found in these samples. Kittigul reported up to 8% shellfish contamination with RV using nested PCR in Thailand (Kittigul et al., 2015), which is lower than what we observed (15.8%). However, the shellfish species analyzed in Thailand's study were different (cockles, oysters, and mussels); and detection frequencies varied among them,

again suggesting that the accumulation may be species-dependent. Panamá reported a higher rate of RV (60%) in *A. tuberculosa* analyzed through ELISA technique (Bourdett-Stanziola et al., 2022). However, the high positivity rate was attributed to the sampling area, which was characterized by high tourist activity and subsequent human wastewater in the mangrove (Bourdett-Stanziola et al., 2022).

HAstV and SaV have also been associated with foodborne outbreaks, although in a lesser extent (Diez Valcarce et al., 2021; Razizadeh, Khatami, et al., 2022; Xuefeng Chen, et al et al., 2011). We found each, SaV and HAstV, in 10% of tested samples, which is in line with the results reported in Europe, where virus surveillance in food and shellfish is well developed. In Galicia, Spain, human SaV was detected more frequently in seafood, ranging from 17.9% to 37.5% (Varela, Hooper, et al., 2016; Varela, Polo, et al., 2016), which is similar to reports from Italy (18.8%) (Fusco et al., 2019). Regarding HAstV, up to 20.8% of samples (mussels and clams) in Italy showed contamination with this agent (Fusco et al., 2019)

The presence of multiple viruses in shellfish is not uncommon (Françoise S. Le Guyader et al., 2008). We describe the coexistence of NoVGI and NoVGII in 3.9% of the samples analyzed. We also identified up to four viruses in the same sample; suggesting that the coexistence of different species, genotypes, and genogroups is common in our country, as described in oyster samples in Brazil (do Nascimento, Sarmento, et al., 2022).

Despite the reports describing NoV disease peaks in the rainy or winter season (Ludwig-Begall et al., 2021), we did not identify any seasonality for NoVGI, NoVGII, RV, SaV, or HAstV. In contrast to previous reports (Tao et al., 2016), we found an association between HAdV and dry season. While a lack of HAdV seasonality was reported in shellfish

in Brazil (do Nascimento, Sarmento, et al., 2022), a seasonality has been described based on stool sample analysis in the Northern region of this country with a higher prevalence of HAdV during summer and spring (do Nascimento, Fialho, et al., 2022).

The concentration of human pathogens (viruses and bacteria) in shellfish is generally the result of contamination of the environment in which they live, and this may be caused by sewage (Hassard et al., 2017). Mangrove represents a special ecosystem and contamination assessment studies have documented fecal contamination in Ecuadorian mangroves (Pernia et al., 2019) and rivers (Vinueza et al., 2021). Our study supports these previous reports and provides evidence of fecal contamination of black shellfish; suggesting that efforts to ensure mangrove-safe water quality should be reinforced.

Black shellfish are commonly consumed raw in typical Ecuadorian dishes such as ceviche, posing a risk to the consumer, as described by Orden-Mejia (Orden-Mejía et al., 2021). Post-harvest purification methods, including placing shellfish in clean tanks before commercialization, are commonly used to remove pathogens or reduce their concentration in shellfish (Yang et al., 2021). However, this process is not as effective at removing viruses as it is at removing bacteria (Sharp et al., 2021). Proper cooking of seafood (90 degrees Celsius over 90 seconds) is a better strategy to reduce the risk (Bozkurt et al., 2015), as high temperatures are effective at inactivating viruses (Bozkurt et al., 2015)

To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to identify viral genetic material from black shellfish sold in local markets. Our findings highlight the need to strengthen assessment tools for the timely identification of viral pathogens in commercial shellfish for risk assessment of food-transmitted diseases. In the future, larger sampling, and including additional sampling areas, as well as genotyping analyses will be needed to better characterize the prevalence and genetic diversity of human pathogens among black shellfish.

## TABLAS

ORIGIN	Sample	NoVGI	NoVGII	RV	HAdV	HAstV	SaV	
	N°/n (%)	Positive (%)	Positive (%)	Positive (%)	Positive (%)	Positive (%)		E. coli (%)
							Positive (%)	
San Lorenzo	86/101 (85)	15 (14.85)	4 (3.96)	15 (14.85)	42 (41.58)	10 (10)		
							10 (10)	64 (78.05)
Puerto El Morro	2/101 (2)	2 (1.98)	1 (0.99)		1 (0.99)			
								1 (1.22)
Galápagos	3/101 (3)				1 (0.99)			
								1 (1.22)
Jambelí	1/101 (1)				1(0.99)			
Muisne	3/101 (3)	1 (0.99)	1 (0.99)	1 (0.99)	3 (2.97)			
								2 (2.44)
Puerto Bolívar	2/101 (2)	1 (0.99)	1 (0.99)		1 (0.99)			
								1 (1.22)
Puerto Jeli	1/101 (1)	1 (0.99)						
								1 (1.22)
San Vicente	2/101 (2)	1 (0.99)						
Puerto Hualtaco	1/101 (1)				1 (0.99)			
- activ Human	1,101 (1)				1 (0.00)			
TOTAL	101/101 (100)	21/101 (20.8)	7/101 (6.9)	16/101 (15.8)	50/101 (49.5)	10/100 (10)		
							10/100 (10)	70/82 (85.4)

Table 2. Multiplex q	PCR primers and p	robes	
Primers and probes	used for Norovirus	GI and GII	detection
NAME	TARGET	SENSE	Sequence 5´-3´
NoV1-Fb	Norovirus genogroup I	Forward primer	TYC GYT GGA TGC GNT TYC ATG A
NoV1-R	Norovirus	Reverse	CTT AGA CGC CAT CAT CAT TYA C
	genogroup I	primer	
NoV2-F	Norovirus	Forward	CAR GAR BCN ATG TTY AGR TGG ATG
	genogroup II	primer	AG
NoV2-R	Norovirus genogroup II	Reverse primer	TCG ACG CCA TCT TCA TTC ACA
NoVG1c-Probe	Norovirus	Probe	VIC-AGA TYG CGR TCY CCT GTC CA-
	genogroup I		TAMRA
NoV2-Probe	Norovirus	Probe	FAM-TGG GAG GGY GAT CGC AAT CT-
	genogroup II		TAMRA
Primers and probes	used for Rotavirus	and Adenov	irus detection
Rota-F	Non-structure	Forward	ACC ATC TAC ACA TGA CCC TC
	protein 3	primer	
Rota-F-GII	Non-structure	Forward	ACC ATC TTC ACG TAA CCC TC
Deta D	protein 3	primer	
RULd-K	protein 3	primer	GGI CAC ATA ACG CCC C
Rota-P robe (FAM/	Non-structure	Probe	FAM-ATG AGC ACA ATA GTT AAA
TAMRA)	MRA) protein 3		AGC TAA CAC TGT CAA -TAMRA
Ad2-F	Non-structure	Forward	CCA GGA CGC CTC GGA GTA
	protein 3	primer	
Ad2-R	Hexon	Reverse	AAA CTT GTT ATT CAG GCT GAA GTA
	TICHON	primer	CGT
Ad2-P	Hexon	Probe	VIC-AGT TTG CCC GCG CCA CCG-
(VIC/TAMRA)		11000	TAMRA
	Hovon	Forward	
Au <b>4</b> -I	пехон	primer	
Ad4-R	Hexon	Reverse	CTT GTT CCC CAG ACT GAA GTA GGT
		primer	
Ad4-P	Hexon	Probe	VIC-CAGTTCGCCCGYGCMACAG-
(VIC/TAMRA)			TAMRA
Primers and probes	used for Sapovirus	and Astrovi	rus detection
SaV124F	Junction of	Forward	GAY CAS GCT CTC GCY ACC TAC
	polymerase and	primer	
SaV1F	Lunction of	Forward	
Savir	polymerase and	primer	
	capsid	1	
SaV5F	Junction of	Forward	TTT GAA CAA GCT GTG GCA TGC TAC
	polymerase and	primer	
SaV1245R	Junction of	Reverse	CCC TCC ΑΤΥ TCA AAC ACT A
54, 22 1010	polymerase and	primer	
	capsid	-	
SaV124TP (FAM/	Junction of	Probe	FAM-CCR CCT ATR AAC CA-MGB-NQF
MGB)	polymerase and capsid		

SaV5TP (FAM/MGB)	Junction polymerase capsid	of and	Probe	FAM-TGC CAC CAA TGT ACC A-MGB- NQF
Astr-1F	Polymerase		Forward primer	CTT AAT CGC CAT GTA CTT CTA CCA TC
Astr-1R	Polymerase		Reverse primer	TGT TGT TGA AAA CTG CCC AGA T
Astr-1P (VIC/TAMRA)	Polymerase		Probe	VIC-AAG TCA CCT TGC AGA CAC GAG GTA ATC-TAMRA
Astr-2F	Capsid		Forward primer	GGC ACT AAT CAA ATG CCT AAT GTT T
Astr-2R	Capsid		Reverse primer	GGA GAC TGT ACC CTC GAT CCT ACT C
Astr-2P (VIC/TAMRA)	Capsid		Probe	VIC-TGG AGA CCG CGG CCA CGC- TAMRA

Table 3. Co-detection of enteric viruses in black shellfish samples									
DOUBLE DETE	CTION	TRIPLE DETE	CTION	QUADRUPLE DETECTION					
Combination	Positive (%)	Combination	Positive (%)	Combination	Positive (%)				
NoVGI+NoVGII	4 (20)	RV +HAdV+HAstV	2 (22.2)	NoVGI+NoVGII+HAdV +HAstV	1 (50)				
NoVGI+HAdV	2 (10)	HAdV+HAstV +SaV	1 (11.1)	NoVGI+HAdV +HAstV+ SaV	1 (50)				
NoVGI + HAstV	1 (5)	NoVGI, NoVGII, HAdV	1 (11.1)						
RV +HAdV	7 (35)	NoVGII, RV +HAdV	1 (11.1)						
SaV +HAdV	1 (5)	NoVGI, HAdV + SaV	2 (22.2)						
SaV +HAstV	1 (5)	NoVGI, RV +HAdV	1 (11.1)						
SaV +RV	2 (10)	RV+HAstV+SaV	1 (11.1)						
HAdV +HAstV	2 (10)								
Total	20 (100)		9 (100)		2(100)				

Table 4. Association between seasonality and samples´ origin with viral identification or E. coli count									
	Virus	NoVGI NoVGII		RV	HAdV	HAstV	SaV	E. coli	
		<b>n</b> (%)	<b>n</b> (%)	<b>n</b> (%)	n (%)	<b>n</b> (%)	n (%)	<b>n</b> (%)	
SEASON	Dry	8 (16.3%)	5 (10.2%)	9 (18.4%)	33 (67.4%)	6 (12.5%)	3 (6.3%)	28 (80%)	
	Rainy	13 (27.7%)	2 (4.3%)	6 (12.8%)	16 (34.1%) §	3 (6.4%)	6 (12.8%)	42 (89.4%)	
	<i>p</i> -value	0.22	0.43	0.58	0.001§	0.49	0.32	0.34	
ORIGIN	San Lorenzo	15 (17.4 %)	4 (4.7 %)	15 (17.4 %)	42 (42.8 %)	10 (11.8 %)	10 (11.8 %)	64 (91.4 %)	
	Galápagos	0	0	0	1 (33.3 %)	0	0	NA	
	Other		3 (25 %)	1 (8.3 %)	7 (58.3 %)	0	0	6 (50 %) §	
	<i>p</i> -value	0.035	0.07	0.81	0.74	0.53	0.53	0.002§	
	§ p-value <0.05								

An association between Adenovirus molecular detection and dry season was found (*p*-value 0.00, Fisher's exact test 1).

Table 5. Association between <i>E. coli</i> count and detected viruses									
E. coli limit	li limit NoVGI NoVGII			HAdV	HAstV	SaV			
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	N (%)			
Permissible	5 (41.7 %)	2 (16.7 %)	0	5 (41.7 %)	0	0			
No-permissible	14 (20 %)	4 (5.7 %)	11 (15.7 %)	34 (48.6 %)	7 (10.1 %)	8 (11.6 %)			

Fisher's exact test showed no association between no permissible *E. coli* count and positivity for any

virus *p*>0.05.

#### REFERENCES

- A. Ford-Siltz, L., Tohma, K., & I. Parra, G. (2021). Understanding the relationship between norovirus diversity and immunity. *Gut Microbes*, *13*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2021.1900994
- Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abbasi-Kangevari, M., Abd-Allah, F., Abdelalim, A., Abdollahi, M., Abdollahpour, I., Abegaz, K. H., Abolhassani, H., Aboyans, V., Abreu, L. G., Abrigo, M. R. M., Abualhasan, A., Abu-Raddad, L. J., Abushouk, A. I., Adabi, M., Adekanmbi, V., Adeoye, A. M., Adetokunboh, O. O., ... Amini, S. (2020). Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet*, 396(10258), 1204–1222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9
- Adeel A Butt, Kenneth E Aldridge, and C. V. S. (2004). Infections related to the ingestion of seafood Part I: Viral and bacterial infections. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 4(4), 201–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(04)00969-7
- Amimo, J. O., Raev, S. A., Chepngeno, J., Mainga, A. O., Guo, Y., Saif, L., & Vlasova, A. N. (2021). Rotavirus Interactions With Host Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*(December), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.793841
- Arakaki, L., Tollefson, D., Kharono, B., & Drain, P. K. (2021). Prevalence of rotavirus among older children and adults with diarrhea: A systematic review and meta-analysis.
   *Vaccine*, *39*(33), 4577–4590. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.06.073

Bosch, A., Gkogka, E., Le, F. S., Loisy-hamon, F., Lee, A., Lieshout, L. Van, Marthi, B.,

Myrmel, M., Sansom, A., Charlotte, A., Winkler, A., Zuber, S., & Phister, T. (2018). Foodborne viruses: Detection, risk assessment, and control options in food processing. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *285*(January), 110–128.

- Bosch, A., Pintó, R. M., & Guix, S. (2014). Human astroviruses. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, *27*(4), 1048–1074. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00013-14
- Bourdett-Stanziola, L., Cuevas-Abrego, M., Ferrera, A., & A. Durant-Archibold, A. (2022).
  Rotavirus in Oysters, Lettuce, and Feces in Children with Diarrhea from Panama. *Journal of Advances in Microbiology*, *22*(5), 16–21.
  https://doi.org/10.9734/jamb/2022/v22i530459
- Bozkurt, H., D'Souza, D. H., & Davidson, P. M. (2015). Thermal inactivation of foodborne enteric viruses and their viral surrogates in foods. *Journal of Food Protection*, 78(8), 1597–1617. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-14-487
- Butt, A. A., Aldridge, K. E., & Sanders, C. V. (2004). Infections related to the ingestion of seafood. Part II: Parasitic infections and food safety. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 4(5), 294–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(04)01005-9
- Cabanilla, C. (2010). Comercialización de la concha prieta (Anadara tuberculosa y A. símilis)
  en los principales puertos de la costa ecuatoriana. *Boletín Científico y Técnico*, *20*, 50–
  64. http://oceandocs.net/handle/1834/4796
- Cammarata, R. V., Barrios, M. E., Díaz, S. M., García López, G., Fortunato, M. S., Torres,C., Blanco Fernández, M. D., & Mbayed, V. A. (2021). Assessment of MicrobiologicalQuality of Fresh Vegetables and Oysters Produced in Buenos Aires Province, Argentina.

*Food and Environmental Virology*, *13*(4), 507–519. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-021-09496-8

- Chandrapati, S., & Williams, M. G. (2014). Total Viable Counts: Most Probable Number (MPN). In *Encyclopedia of Food Microbiology: Second Edition* (Second Edi, Vol. 3).
  Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384730-0.00333-5
- Chhabra, P., de Graaf, M., Parra, G. I., Chan, M. C. W., Green, K., Martella, V., Wang, Q.,
  White, P. A., Katayama, K., Vennema, H., Koopmans, M. P. G., & Vinjé, J. (2019).
  Updated classification of norovirus genogroups and genotypes. *Journal of General Virology*, *100*(10), 1393–1406. https://doi.org/10.1099/JGV.0.001318
- Choi, S., Puligundla, P., & Mok, C. (2016). WHO ESTIMATES OF THE GLOBAL BURDEN OR FOODBORNE DISEASES. *Annals of Microbiology*, 66(2), 685–694. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13213-015-1147-5
- Clark, A., Black, R., Tate, J., Roose, A., Kotloff, K., Lam, D., Blackwelder, W., Parashar, U., Lanata, C., Kang, G., Troeger, C., Platts-Mills, J., Mokdad, A., Global Rotavirus
  Surveillance Network, G. R. S., Sanderson, C., Lamberti, L., Levine, M., Santosham, M., & Steele, D. (2017). Estimating global, regional and national rotavirus deaths in
  children aged. *PloS One*, *12*(9), e0183392.
  http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/28892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/28892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/28892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/28892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/28892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/28892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/2892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/28892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/2892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/2892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/2892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/2892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/2892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/2892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmed/2892480%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/pubmedcentral.nih/gov/pubmedcentral.nih/gov/pubmedcent
- Cook, N. (2016). Human and Animal Viruses in Food (Including Taxonomy of Enteric Viruses). In *Viruses in Foods* (Vol. 2, Issue 3, pp. 98–101). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-30723-7

- Cortez, V., Meliopoulos, V. A., Karlsson, E. A., Hargest, V., Johnson, C., & Schultz-Cherry,
  S. (2017). Astrovirus Biology and Pathogenesis. *Annual Review of Virology*, *4*, 327–348. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-virology-101416-041742
- Crawford, S. E., Ramani, S., Tate, J. E., Parashar, U. D., Svensson, L., Hagbom, M., Franco, M. A., Greenberg, H. B., O'Ryan, M., Kang, G., Desselberger, U., & Estes, M. K. (2017). Rotavirus infection. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2017.83
- Currier, R. L., Payne, D. C., Staat, M. A., Selvarangan, R., Shirley, S. H., Halasa, N., Boom, J. A., Englund, J. A., Szilagyi, P. G., Harrison, C. J., Klein, E. J., Weinberg, G. A., Wikswo, M. E., Parashar, U., Vinjé, J., & Morrow, A. L. (2015). Innate susceptibility to norovirus infections influenced by FUT2 genotype in a United States pediatric population. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *60*(11), 1631–1638. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/civ165
- D'Souza, D. H., & Joshi, S. S. (2015). Foodborne Viruses of Human Health Concern. *Encyclopedia of Food and Health*, 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384947-2.00727-3
- Das, O., Lekshmi, M., Kumar, S., & Nayak, B. B. (2020). Incidence of norovirus in tropical seafood harbouring fecal indicator bacteria. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 150(November), 110777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110777
- Delgado Madeleyne. (2017). Niveles de Coliformes totales y Escherichia coli en Anadara tuberculosa y Anadara similis en el Recinto El Morro, Provincia Del Guayas. 1–74.

- Diez Valcarce, M., Kambhampati, A. K., Calderwood, L. E., Hall, A. J., Mirza, S. A., & Vinjé, J. (2021). Global distribution of sporadic sapovirus infections: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(8 August), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0255436
- do Nascimento, L. G., Fialho, A. M., de Andrade, J. da S. R., de Assis, R. M. S., & Fumian, T. M. (2022). Human enteric adenovirus F40/41 as a major cause of acute gastroenteritis in children in Brazil, 2018 to 2020. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-15413-1
- do Nascimento, L. G., Sarmento, S. K., Leonardo, R., Gutierrez, M. B., Malta, F. C., de Oliveira, J. M., Guerra, C. R., Coutinho, R., Miagostovich, M. P., & Fumian, T. M. (2022). Detection and Molecular Characterization of Enteric Viruses in Bivalve Mollusks Collected in Arraial do Cabo, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *Viruses*, *14*(11), 2359. https://doi.org/10.3390/v14112359
- EFSA. (2015). The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2014. *EFSA Journal*, *13*(12). https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2015.4329
- Ekici, G., & Dümen, E. (2019). Escherichia coli and Food Safety. In *The Universe of Escherichia coli* (pp. 1–16). https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.82375
- EU. (2004). REGLAMENTO (CE) Nº 854/2004 DEL PARLAMENTO EUROPEO Y DEL CONSEJO. Diario Oficial de La Unión Europea, L139(30.4.2004), 206.

Ezzatpanah, H., Gómez-López, V. M., Koutchma, T., Lavafpour, F., Moerman, F.,

Mohammadi, M., & Raheem, D. (2022). New food safety challenges of viral contamination from a global perspective: Conventional, emerging, and novel methods of viral control. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, *21*(2), 904–941. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12909

- Frenck, R., Bernstein, D. I., Xia, M., Huang, P., Zhong, W., Parker, S., Dickey, M., McNeal, M., & Jiang, X. (2012). Predicting susceptibility to norovirus GII.4 by use of a challenge model involving humans. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *206*(9), 1386–1393. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jis514
- Fu, J., Yu, F., Li, H., Shen, L., Tian, Y., Jia, L., Zhang, D., Yang, P., Wang, Q., & Gao, Z. (2023). Acute gastroenteritis outbreaks caused by human astrovirus, 1978–2021: A systematic review. *Biosafety and Health, October 2022*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bsheal.2023.02.004
- Fusco, G., Anastasio, A., Kingsley, D. H., Amoroso, M. G., Pepe, T., Fratamico, P. M.,
  Cioffi, B., Rossi, R., Rosa, G. La, & Boccia, F. (2019). Detection of hepatitis a virus and other enteric viruses in shellfish collected in the gulf of naples, italy. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(14).
  https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16142588
- Gastañaduy, P. A., Vicuña, Y., Salazar, F., Broncano, N., Gregoricus, N., Vinjé, J., Chico, M., Parashar, U. D., Cooper, P. J., & Lopman, B. (2015). Transmission of Norovirus
  Within Households in Quininde, Ecuador. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, 34(9), 1031–1033. https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.000000000000783

Ghosh, S. K., Lekshmi, M., Das, O., Kumar, S., & Nayak, B. B. (2019). Occurrence of

Human Enteric Adenoviruses in Fresh Tropical Seafood from Retail Markets and Landing Centers. *Journal of Food Science*, *84*(8), 2256–2260. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.14735

- Greber, U. F., & Flatt, J. W. (2019). Adenovirus Entry: From Infection to Immunity. *Annual Review of Virology*, 6, 177–197. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-virology-092818-015550
- Guix, S., Pintó, R. M., & Bosch, A. (2019). Final consumer options to control and prevent foodborne norovirus infections. *Viruses*, *11*(4), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11040333
- Hardstaff, J. L., Clough, H. E., Lutje, V., McIntyre, K. M., Harris, J. P., Garner, P., &
  O'Brien, S. J. (2018). Foodborne and Food-Handler Norovirus Outbreaks: A Systematic
  Review. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, *15*(10), 589–597.
  https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2018.2452
- Hassard, F., Sharp, J. H., Taft, H., LeVay, L., Harris, J. P., McDonald, J. E., Tuson, K.,
  Wilson, J., Jones, D. L., & Malham, S. K. (2017). Critical Review on the Public Health
  Impact of Norovirus Contamination in Shellfish and the Environment: A UK
  Perspective. *Food and Environmental Virology*, 9(2), 123–141.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-017-9279-3
- International Organization for Standardization. (2017). Método horizontal para la detección de virus de la hepatitis A y norovirus en alimentos utilizando RT-PCR en tiempo real Parte 1 : Método para la determinación cuantitativa.

Janda, J. M., & Abbott, S. L. (2021). The Changing Face of the Family Enterobacteriaceae

(Order: Syndromes. Clin Microbiol Rev, 28(February), 1-45.

- Keller, R., Pratte-Santos, R., Scarpati, K., Martins, S. A., Loss, S. M., Fumian, T. M.,
  Miagostovich, M. P., & Cassini, S. T. (2019). Surveillance of Enteric Viruses and
  Thermotolerant Coliforms in Surface Water and Bivalves from a Mangrove Estuary in
  Southeastern Brazil. *Food and Environmental Virology*, *11*(3), 288–296. https://doi.org/
  10.1007/s12560-019-09391-3
- Kittigul, L., Thamjaroen, A., Chiawchan, S., Chavalitshewinkoon-Petmitr, P., Pombubpa, K.,
  & Diraphat, P. (2016). Prevalence and Molecular Genotyping of Noroviruses in Market
  Oysters, Mussels, and Cockles in Bangkok, Thailand. *Food and Environmental Virology*, 8(2), 133–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-016-9228-6
- Kittigul, L., Singhaboot, Y., Chavalitshewinkoon-Petmitr, P., Pombubpa, K., &
  Hirunpetcharat, C. (2015). A comparison of virus concentration methods for molecular detection and characterization of rotavirus in bivalve shellfish species. *Food Microbiology*, 46, 161–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2014.07.020
- Kolling, G., Wu, M., & Guerrant, R. L. (2012). Enteric pathogens through life stages. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 2(August), 114. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2012.00114
- Le Guyader, Françoise S., Le Saux, J. C., Ambert-Balay, K., Krol, J., Serais, O., Parnaudeau, S., Giraudon, H., Delmas, G., Pommepuy, M., Pothier, P., & Atmar, R. L. (2008). Aichi virus, norovirus, astrovirus, enterovirus, and rotavirus involved in clinical cases from a French oyster-related gastroenteritis outbreak. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 46(12), 4011–4017. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01044-08

- Le Guyader, Franoise S., Atmar, R. L., & Le Pendu, J. (2012). Transmission of viruses through shellfish: When specific ligands come into play. *Current Opinion in Virology*, *2*(1), 103–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coviro.2011.10.029
- Lees, D. (2000). Viruses and bivalve shellfish. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 59(1–2), 81–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1605(00)00248-8
- Li, Y., Xue, L., Gao, J., Cai, W., Zhang, Z., Meng, L., Miao, S., Hong, X., Xu, M., Wu, Q., & Zhang, J. (2023). A systematic review and meta-analysis indicates a substantial burden of human noroviruses in shellfish worldwide, with GII.4 and GII.2 being the predominant genotypes. *Food Microbiology*, *109*(100), 104140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2022.104140
- Liao, Y., Hong, X., Wu, A., Jiang, Y., Liang, Y., Gao, J., Xue, L., & Kou, X. (2021). Global prevalence of norovirus in cases of acute gastroenteritis from 1997 to 2021: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, *161*(PA), 105259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2021.105259
- Lopman, B. A., Trivedi, T., Vicuña, Y., Costantini, V., Collins, N., Gregoricus, N., Parashar, U., Sandoval, C., Broncano, N., Vaca, M., Chico, M. E., Vinjé, J., & Cooper, P. J. (2015). Norovirus infection and disease in an ecuadorian birth cohort: Association of certain norovirus genotypes with host FUT2 secretor status. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *211*(11), 1813–1821. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiu672
- Lopman, B., Vicuña, Y., Salazar, F., Broncano, N., Esona, M. D., Sandoval, C., Gregoricus, N., Bowen, M. D., Payne, D., Vaca, M., Chico, M., Parashar, U., & Cooper, P. J. (2013). Household Transmission of Rotavirus in a Community with Rotavirus Vaccination in

Quininde, Ecuador. PLoS ONE, 8(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0067763

- Ludwig-Begall, L. F., Mauroy, A., & Thiry, E. (2021). Noroviruses—The State of the Art, Nearly Fifty Years after Their Initial Discovery. *Viruses*, 1–36.
- Maalouf, H., Schaeffer, J., Parnaudeau, S., Le Pendu, J., Atmar, R. L., Crawford, S. E., & Le Guyader, F. S. (2011). Strain-dependent norovirus bioaccumulation in oysters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *77*(10), 3189–3196. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03010-10
- Malik, Y. S., Verma, A. K., Kumar, N., Touil, N., Karthik, K., Tiwari, R., Bora, D. P.,
  Dhama, K., Ghosh, S., Hemida, M. G., Abdel-Moneim, A. S., Bányai, K., Vlasova, A.
  N., Kobayashi, N., & Singh, R. K. (2019). Advances in Diagnostic Approaches for Viral
  Etiologies of Diarrhea: From the Lab to the Field. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *10*(September), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01957
- Miotto, M., Ossai, S. A., Meredith, J. E., Barretta, C., Kist, A., Prudencio, E. S., R. W.
  Vieira, C., & Parveen, S. (2019). Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of
  Escherichia coli isolated from mollusks in Brazil and the United States. *MicrobiologyOpen*, 8(5), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/mbo3.738
- Moon, A., Hwang, I. G., & Choi, W. S. (2011). Prevalence of noroviruses in oysters in Korea. *Food Science and Biotechnology*, 20(4), 1151–1154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10068-011-0157-8
- Moreno, J. (2017). Importancia de la pesqueria de concha prieta. *Instituto de Pesca*, *4*(2), 1–20. http://oceandocs.net/handle/1834/4796

- Nagarajan, V., Chen, J. S., Hsu, G. J., Chen, H. P., Chao, H. C., Huang, S. W., Tsai, I. Sen, & Hsu, B. M. (2022). Surveillance of Adenovirus and Norovirus Contaminants in the Water and Shellfish of Major Oyster Breeding Farms and Fishing Ports in Taiwan. *Pathogens*, *11*(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens11030316
- Oka, T., Wang, Q., Katayama, K., & Saifb, L. J. (2015). Comprehensive review of human sapoviruses. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 28(1), 32–53. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00011-14
- Olaniran, C. A. O. and A. O., & Discipline. (2022). Rotaviruses : From Pathogenesis to Disease Control A Critical Review. *Viruses*.
- Orden-Mejía, M. A., Zambrano-Conforme, D. C., Zamora-Flores, F. G., & Quezada-Tobar,
  D. (2021). Ethnic food: A microbiological evaluation of black shellfish ceviche that is sold in typical restaurants. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, 25(March), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2021.100395
- Pang, Xiaoli. Preiksaitis, Jutta. Lee, B. (2014). Enhanced Enteric Virus Detection in Sporadic Gastroenteritis Using a Multi-Target Real Time PCR Panel: A One-Year Study. *Journal* of Medical Virology, 86(9), 1594–1601. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.23851
- Pernia, B., Mero, M., Cornejo, X., & Zambrano, J. (2019). IMPACTOS DE LA CONTAMINACIÓN SOBRE LOS MANGLARES DE ECUADOR. Universidad de Guayaquil. November, 374–419. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/337424161
- Peter Feng, Stephen D. Weagant, Michael A. Grant, W. B. (2020). Enumeration of Escherichia coli and the Coliform Bacteria. In *Bacteriological Analytical Manual*.

- Pexara, A., & Govaris, A. (2020). Foodborne Viruses and Innovative Non-Thermal Food-Processing Technologies. *Foods*, 1–17.
- Prado, E., Martínez, M., Díaz, A., Castro, C., Renteria, P., Coronel, J., & Rodríguez, C. (2020). The importance of the production of black shell (Anadara tuberculosa) on the ecuadorian coast. July, 34–46. https://doi.org/10.51260/revista\_espamciencia.v11i1.209
- Pringle, K., Lopman, B., Vega, E., Vinje, J., Parashar, U. D., & Hall, A. J. (2015). Noroviruses: Epidemiology, immunity and prospects for prevention. *Future Microbiology*, *10*(1), 53–67. https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb.14.102
- Purpari, G., Macaluso, G., Di Bella, S., Gucciardi, F., Mira, F., Di Marco, P., Lastra, A., Petersen, E., La Rosa, G., & Guercio, A. (2019). Molecular characterization of human enteric viruses in food, water samples, and surface swabs in Sicily. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 80, 66–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2018.12.011
- Ramos, E. (2019). Situación Biológica y Pesquera del Recurso Concha Prieta (Anadara tuberculosa y A . similis ) en Guayas y El Oro durante 2019. *Instituto Nacional de Pesca*, 1–32. https://www.proyectomarinocostero.com.ec/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/ INF.-FINAL-CONVENIO-CI-INP-Concha-Prieta\_-2019.pdf
- Razizadeh, M. H., Khatami, A., & Zarei, M. (2022). Global molecular prevalence and genotype distribution of Sapovirus in children with gastrointestinal complications: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Reviews in Medical Virology*, *32*(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/rmv.2302

Razizadeh, M. H., Pourrostami, K., Kachooei, A., Zarei, M., Asghari, M., Hamldar, S., &

Khatami, A. (2022). An annoying enteric virus: A systematic review and meta-analysis of human astroviruses and gastrointestinal complications in children. *Reviews in Medical Virology*, *32*(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/rmv.2389

- Rodriguez-Manzano, J., Hundesa, A., Calgua, B., Carratala, A., Maluquer de Motes, C.,
  Rusiñol, M., Moresco, V., Ramos, A. P., Martínez-Marca, F., Calvo, M., Monte Barardi,
  C. R., Girones, R., & Bofill-Mas, S. (2014). Adenovirus and Norovirus Contaminants in
  Commercially Distributed Shellfish. *Food and Environmental Virology*, 6(1), 31–41.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-013-9133-1
- Romalde, J. L., Rivadulla, E., Varela, M. F., & Barja, J. L. (2018). An overview of 20 years of studies on the prevalence of human enteric viruses in shellfish from Galicia, Spain. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *124*(4), 943–957. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13614
- Rouhani, S., Peñataro Yori, P., Paredes Olortegui, M., Lima, A. A., Ahmed, T., Mduma, E.
  R., George, A., Samie, A., Svensen, E., Lima, I., Mondal, D., Mason, C. J., Kalam, A.,
  Guerrant, R. L., Lang, D., Zaidi, A., Kang, G., Houpt, E., & Kosek, M. N. (2022). The
  Epidemiology of Sapovirus in the Etiology, Risk Factors, and Interactions of Enteric
  Infection and Malnutrition and the Consequences for Child Health and Development
  Study: Evidence of Protection Following Natural Infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 75(8), 1334–1341. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciac165
- Rowe, G., & Bolger, F. (2017). Final report on 'the identification of food safety priorities using the Delphi technique.' *EFSA Supporting Publications*, *13*(3). https://doi.org/10.2903/sp.efsa.2016.en-1007

Salazar, E. J., Guerrero, M. J., Villaquiran, J. A., Suárez, K. S., & Cevallos, J. M. (2023).

Development of enhanced primer sets for detection of Norovirus and Hepatitis A in food samples from Guayaquil (Ecuador) by reverse transcriptase-heminested PCR. *Bionatura*, *8*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.21931/rb/2023.08.01.2

- Santos-Ferreira, N., Van Dycke, J., Neyts, J., & Rocha-Pereira, J. (2021). Current and future antiviral strategies to tackle gastrointestinal viral infections. *Microorganisms*, *9*(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9081599
- Scallan, E., Hoekstra, R. M., Angulo, F. J., Tauxe, R. V., Widdowson, M. A., Roy, S. L.,
  Jones, J. L., & Griffin, P. M. (2011). Foodborne illness acquired in the United StatesMajor pathogens. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *17*(1), 7–15.
  https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1701.P11101
- Schoch CL, et al. (2020). *NCBI Taxonomy: a comprehensive update on curation, resources and tools. Database (Oxford)*. Database (Oxford). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Taxonomy/Browser/wwwtax.cgi?id=6554&lvl=0
- NORMA PARA MOLUSCOS BIVALVOS VIVOS Y MOLUSCOS BIVALVOS CRUDOS, 8 (2013). https://www.normalizacion.gob.ec/buzon/normas/nte\_inen\_2729.pdf
- Sharp, J. H., Clements, K., Diggens, M., McDonald, J. E., Malham, S. K., & Jones, D. L.
  (2021). E. coli Is a Poor End-Product Criterion for Assessing the General Microbial Risk
  Posed From Consuming Norovirus Contaminated Shellfish. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *12*(February), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.608888
- Shieh, W. J. (2022). Human adenovirus infections in pediatric population An update on clinico–pathologic correlation. *Biomedical Journal*, *45*(1), 38–49.

- Simaluiza-Masabanda, R. J., Cevallos-Solórzano, G., Bourdett-Stanziola, L., Arévalo-Jaramillo, P., Ruiz-Ramón, J., Villacis-Villa, D., Torres-Bailón, P. C., & Jaramillo, H. F. (2016). Genotipificación de Rotavirus en niños menores de cinco años en la región sur del Ecuador. *Acta Bioquimica Clinica Latinoamericana*, 50(4), 665–668.
- Stockley, L. (2019). Enumeration of Escherichia coli in bivalve molluscan shellfish by the most probable number (MPN) technique (based on ISO 16649-3).
- Subsistema de Vigilancia SIVE-ALERTA MSP. (2023). Gacetas ETAS SE-8-2023. In *ENFERMEDADES TRANSMITIDAS POR AGUA Y ALIMENTOS*.
- Tao, C. W., Hsu, B. M., Kao, P. M., Huang, W. C., Hsu, T. K., Ho, Y. N., Lu, Y. J., & Fan,
  C. W. (2016). Seasonal difference of human adenoviruses in a subtropical river basin
  based on 1-year monthly survey. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23(3),
  2928–2936. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-5501-8
- Troeger, C., Blacker, B. F., Khalil, I. A., Rao, P. C., Cao, S., Zimsen, S. R., Albertson, S. B., Stanaway, J. D., Deshpande, A., Abebe, Z., Alvis-Guzman, N., Amare, A. T., Asgedom, S. W., Anteneh, Z. A., Antonio, C. A. T., Aremu, O., Asfaw, E. T., Atey, T. M., Atique, S., ... Reiner, R. C. (2018). Estimates of the global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality, and aetiologies of diarrhoea in 195 countries: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 18*(11), 1211–1228. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30362-1
- Varela, M. F., Hooper, A. S., Rivadulla, E., & Romalde, J. L. (2016). Human Sapovirus in

Mussels from Ría do Burgo, A Coruña (Spain). *Food and Environmental Virology*, *8*(3), 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-016-9242-8

- Varela, M. F., Polo, D., & Romalde, J. L. (2016). Prevalence and genetic diversity of human sapoviruses in shellfish from commercial production areas in Galicia, Spain. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(4), 1167–1172. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02578-15
- Vinueza, D., Ochoa-Herrera, V., Maurice, L., Tamayo, E., Mejía, L., Tejera, E., & Machado,
  A. (2021). Determining the microbial and chemical contamination in Ecuador's main
  rivers. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-96926-z

# WHO. (2015). WHO ESTIMATES OF THE GLOBAL BURDEN OF FOODBORNE DISEASES. FOODBORNE DISEASE BURDEN EPIDEMIOLOGY REFERENCE GROUP 2007-2015. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/199350/9789241565165\_eng.pdf? sequence=1%0A

- Williams, A. N., Sherman, M. B., Smith, H. Q., Taube, S., Pettitt, B. M., & Smith, T. J.(2021). A Norovirus Uses Bile Salts To Escape Antibody Recognition While Enhancing Receptor Binding. *Journal of Virology*, *95*(13), 1–17.
- Williams, S. ., & O'Brien, S. (2019). Assessing the contribution made by the food chain to the burden of UK acquired norovirus infection. *Food Standards Agency Publications*, *September*, 1–265.

World Health Organization. (2017). Diarrhoeal disease.

https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diarrhoeal-disease

- World Health Organization. (2022). *Food Safety*. https://www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/food-safety#:~:text=Foodborne illnesses are usually infectious,the body through contaminated food.
- Norma para los moluscos bivalvos vivos y moluscos bivalvos crudos, Pub. L. No. CODEX STAN 292-2008, 9 (2015). https://www.fao.org/fao-who-codexalimentarius/sh-proxy/en/?lnk=1&url=https%253A %252F%252Fworkspace.fao.org%252Fsites%252Fcodex%252FStandards%252FCXS %2B315-2014%252FCXS\_315s.pdf
- Xuefeng Chen, et al, 2011, Reiter, P. L., & McRee, A.-L. (2011). Sapovirus: an emerging cause of childhood diarrhea. *Physiology & Behavior*, *176*(10), 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1097/QCO.000000000000671.Sapovirus
- Yang, M., Zhao, F., Tong, L., Wang, S., & Zhou, D. (2021). Contamination, bioaccumulation mechanism, detection, and control of human norovirus in bivalve shellfish: A review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 0(0), 1–14.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2021.1937510